ORNL-3241

Contract No. W-7405-eng-26 CHEMICAL TECHNOLOGY DIVISION Chemical Development Section B

THE CHEMISTRY OF NIOBIUM IN PROCESSING OF NUCLEAR FUELS

T. A. Gens

DATE ISSUED

FEB - 5 1962

OAK RIDGE NATIONAL LABORATORY Oak Ridge, Tennessee Operated by UNION CARBIDE CORPORATION for the U. S. ATOMIC ENERGY COMMISSION

•

DISCLAIMER

This report was prepared as an account of work sponsored by an agency of the United States Government. Neither the United States Government nor any agency Thereof, nor any of their employees, makes any warranty, express or implied, or assumes any legal liability or responsibility for the accuracy, completeness, or usefulness of any information, apparatus, product, or process disclosed, or represents that its use would not infringe privately owned rights. Reference herein to any specific commercial product, process, or service by trade name, trademark, manufacturer, or otherwise does not necessarily constitute or imply its endorsement, recommendation, or favoring by the United States Government or any agency thereof. The views and opinions of authors expressed herein do not necessarily state or reflect those of the United States Government or any agency thereof.

DISCLAIMER

Portions of this document may be illegible in electronic image products. Images are produced from the best available original document.

The chemical and industrial literature and early laboratory work of interest to those concerned with processing of niobium-containing nuclear fuels are reviewed.

CONTENTS

Page

•

•

۴

1.0	Introduction	4			
2.0	Status of Dissolution Procedures				
	2.1 Industrial Separations	5			
	2.2 Important Compounds	5			
3.0	Laboratory Dissolution Studies				
	3.1 Aqueous Solutions	7			
	3.2 Organic Solutions	9			
	3.3 High-temperature Gas-Solid Reactions	10			
	3.4 Fused Salts	11			
4.0	References	12			

1.0 INTRODUCTION

The use of niobium in future nuclear reactors seems assured because of its high melting point (2470°C), moderately low thermal neutron cross section (1.15 barns), high tensile strength at elevated temperatures, and various other desirable properties such as compatibility with uranium-alloy fuels. One of the more desirable properties, chemical inertness to coolant gases, molten metals, and pressurized water, will pose a problem to the chemists and chemical engineers concerned with processing of niobium-containing fuels to recover valuable fissionable or fertile material. The goal of early laboratory work was generally to develop head-end processes for the conventional aqueous solvent extraction systems. Nonaqueous pretreatment, such as reaction with gases at high temperature or dissolution in fused salts, may be necessary because of the chemical inertness of niobium. Interest in processing of niobiumcontaining fuels has been stimulated by the need for processing one such fuel already discharged from the Experimental Boiling Water Reactor, a small power reactor (1). The purpose of this report is to review much of the literature on niobium of importance to fuel processing and outline results of early laboratory work. Several recent publications reflect the rapidly mounting interest in the metallurgy of niobium (2-8), and much of the new chemical work concerns production of new compounds for hightemperature use. However, the industrial and analytical chemical literature also contains much of interest to those involved in fuel processing (9-16).

2.0 STATUS OF DISSOLUTION PROCEDURES

Much of the chemical behavior of niobium can be inferred from its position in the periodic table in family IVb and in the second short transition series. The filling up of the next to outer 4d orbital brings about variable oxidation states and permits formation of many complex compounds. The general decrease in electropositive behavior through the series is evident in the slight amphoteric behavior of zirconium, zirconates being stable only in strong caustic; the slightly greater amphoteric behavior of niobium, which forms a stable and water-soluble potassium oxyfluoride but precipitates as oxide in basic sodium fluoride solutions; and the stronger amphoteric behavior of molybdenum, which forms soluble molybdates in only moderately strong caustic. The tendency to form bonds of increasingly covalent nature is evident in the series from the generally increasing vapor pressures of the halides and oxyhalides of zirconium, niobium, and molybdenum in their highest valence states. The chemistry of niobium is very similar to that of tantalum because tantalum is only the second element past the lanthanide contraction.

The chemical property of niobium of most importance is probably the stability of the crystalline pentoxide (ΔH_f at 298°K=-227.6 kcal/mole of niobium vs -190.5 and -431 kcal/mole for the pentachloride and pentafluoride, respectively (<u>17-20</u>)) and the low solubility of the pentoxide in acid (<u>21</u>). Since the pentafluoride is more stable and the pentachloride is less stable than the pentoxide, moderate amounts of fluoride and much

larger amounts of chloride can be used to form soluble complexes in acidic solutions. A chemical property of more importance in nonaqueous processing is the moderate stability and low volatility of trivalent niobium compounds.

2.1 Industrial Separations

The major problem in industrial processes is the separation of niobium from its chemical twin, tantalum. The older method, the Marignac process (11,22), involved preparation of complex potassium fluoride compounds and precipitation of the less soluble tantalum complex. More recently, a methyl isobutyl ketone solvent extraction process developed by the U. S. Bureau of Mines has been used to separate the fluorides of niobium and tantalum (9, 11). Fractional distillation of the chlorides is thought to be used in processes developed only recently (2).

In the Marignac process, the niobium-tantalum ore is broken by fusion in excess sodium carbonate to yield the orthoniobate, Na₃NbO₄ and orthotitanate, Na₃TaO₄. Treatment with water yields insoluble sodium metaniobate, NaNbO₃·3H₃O, still contaminated with tantalum. After dissolution of these niobium and tantalum compounds in hydrochloric acid, potassium fluoride is added to precipitate K₂TaF₇. Niobium stays in solution as K₂NbOF₅.

Several chlorination processes have been proposed for the recovery and purification of niobium or tantalum chlorides (23-26). The relative volatility (TaCl₅:NbCl₅) at atmospheric pressure was found to be 1.36 over the whole range of mixture compositions (27). Since the melting and normal boiling points of tantalum pentachloride are 220.0 and 232.9°C, respectively, and of niobium pentachloride are 209.5 and 247.4°C, respectively (27,28), separation by vapor-liquid distillation should be possible. The presence of any oxygen-containing impurities would probably cause formation of some niobium oxychloride, NbOCl₃. This oxychloride, which has a vapor pressure of 20.8 mm of Hg at 250°C (29), would be expected to have some effect if present during the vapor-liquid distillation. The trichloride of niobium is also quite stable while that of tantalum is less stable (30,31).

2.2 Important Compounds

The niobium compounds of particular interest in fuel processing are those soluble in water since aqueous dissolution of the niobium-containing fuel will not proceed rapidly unless the product is soluble, present technology requires solvent extraction of uranium from aqueous solutions, and it is highly desirable to avoid solid-liquid separations in radiochemical operations.

Acidic Solutions. In acidic solutions, niobium forms an insoluble oxide unless a large amount of strongly complexing anion is present. Fluoride is the most efficient of the common niobium-complexing anions. Between about 30 and 5 (1,32) moles of fluoride is required to dissolve 1 mole of niobium. The lowest figure was obtained in a detailed phase study of the HF-NbF5-H₂O system at 20°C and was further verified by potentiometric titration (32). The presence of an oxidant that promotes hydrolysis of the soluble niobium pentafluoride to insoluble oxide probably accounts for observations where more than 5 moles of fluoride is required to solubilize 1 mole of niobium. Thus, these solubility measurements actually include equilibrium values for the reaction

 Nb_2O_5 + 10HF \longrightarrow $2NbF_5$ + $5H_2O$

in addition to the solubility of niobium pentoxide in hydrofluoric acid. The most important acid-soluble compound appears to be the completely fluorinated complex rather than the pentoxide or the oxyfluoride complexes, which are stable and soluble in basic potassium solutions. Although niobium is soluble in hydrofluoric acid, metallic niobium will not dissolve in this acid unless an oxidant such as nitric acid or hydrogen peroxide is present. The oxidant apparently is needed because hydrogen gas cannot evolve from the niobium surface and must be removed by reaction with the oxidant if dissolution is to continue. The inability of hydrogen to evolve from the metal surface is probably caused by a high hydrogen overvoltage, not of the niobium itself but of the protective films which form consistently and rapidly on niobium in aqueous solutions (<u>33,34</u>). This need for an oxidant greatly complicates aqueous dissolution of metallic niobium, since hydrofluoric acid mixed with an oxidant is a good dissolvent for all the common construction metals.

Niobium chloride is soluble to less than 0.5 <u>M</u> in very concentrated hydrochloric acid, probably as a niobium pentachloride complex (35). At lower concentrations of hydrochloric acid, as the pentachloride hydrolyzed to the oxychloride, the solubility was decreased greatly. In 12 <u>M</u> HCl, the solubility of niobium pentoxide is only 0.02 <u>M</u> (21). This hydrolysis to less soluble compounds, the very slow rate of attack on niobium metal, and the corrosiveness of hydrochloric acid makes the use of this acid unattractive in processing of niobium-containing fuels. Sulfate ion reportedly (21) will complex and solubilize niobium ions approximately as well as chloride ions. The high concentrations required to dissolve niobium metal (Sect. 3) make the use of sulfuric acid unattractive, since the concentrated acid is very corrosive.

Neutral Solutions. Niobium forms many other anionic complex compounds that are soluble in neutral or weakly acidic or basic solutions. The solubility of potassium niobium oxyfluoride, K_2NbOF_5 ·H₂O, used in industrial separations is about 0.3 M in 1 M HF at 20°C and increases rapidly with increasing temperature (12). Many hydroxy-acid complex compounds, particularly the α -hydroxy, are water soluble. An example is oxaloniobic acid, which resembles the oxyfluoride in that one oxygen atom is directly bonded to the niobium in the complex (16). Fairbrother and Taylor (36,37) have shown experimentally that the soluble hydroxy-organic acid compounds are 5-membered cyclic anionic complexes. They report that niobic acid is also appreciably soluble in chromic and ortho- and polyphosphoric acids and forms five-membered chelate rings with hydroxyl amines (36-38). None of these soluble complex niobium compounds has been investigated in detail for use in fuel processing. Their use in processes in which uranium is recovered by solvent extraction

as uranyl nitrate is unlikely since the organic complexes are probably not sufficiently stable in nitrate solution and the inorganic complexes would introduce corrosion problems. The soluble perniobic acid, which can be made by dissolving bisulfate melts containing niobium in mixed hydrogen peroxide-dilute sulfuric acid (39), appears to be of little use in processing since great excesses of hydrogen peroxide are needed and the equilibrium constant greatly favors formation of the insoluble pentoxide (40).

Oxidation of niobium cladding could probably be used as a method for opening niobium-clad fuel to expose the core to conventional acid dissolution. At 760 mm Hg oxygen pressure, a linear oxidation-penetration rate of about 4 mils/hr has been observed at 800°C (8,41).

Table 1 is a preliminary list of some of the more important compounds of niobium with some properties of these compounds. The data were drawn from many sources, without attempting to reference the sources or to be comprehensive.

3.0 LABORATORY DISSOLUTION STUDIES

Laboratory work has consisted generally of a preliminary search for dissolution methods for niobium metal. No method has been found which is compatible with present radiochemical plant technology, since all acidic aqueous reagents which attack niobium rapidly are too corrosive for containment in any readily available construction metals. The method of attack that appears most promising is gas-phase chlorination at about 300°C.

3.1 Aqueous Solutions

Niobium does not dissolve in pure hydrofluoric acid but dissolves rapidly in mixed HF-HNO₃ (Fig. 1). For example, laboratory measurements predict initial reaction rates of 5 mg cm⁻² min⁻¹ in 3, 6, and 9 M HF containing about 2, 1, and 2 M HNO₃, respectively. Rate studies were not made in HF-H₂O₂, but dissolution rates are probably comparable to those in HF-HNO₃. The latter reagent produces no off-gas during dissolution. Corrosion rate studies made in the HF-H₂O₂ system (42) indicate that none of the common or newer construction materials would make a satisfactory container.

Niobium can be dissolved in refluxing sulfuric acid more concentrated than 14 M (Fig. 2). The dissolution rate increased rapidly with sulfuric acid concentration to 6^{-2} min⁻¹ at 18.3 M H₂SO₄, the point at which the reflux temperature is maximum. The dissolution rate increased less rapidly as the sulfuric acid (or sulfur trioxide) concentration increased above 18.3 M, probably because the reflux temperature decreased.

						Salubility in 100 Parts		
	Farmula							100 Parts
Formula	Weight	Appearance	SG	MP. °C	BP. °C	Water	Water	Other
Nb	92.91		8.57	2470	5140	i	i	S.HF+HNO ₃ ,KOH
Ovider								5
Nb2O5	265.82	wh. cr.	4.6	15 20	-	i	i	s.hf,H ₂ so ₄ ,hci
3Nb205.								
7H2O	923.6	wh. amor.	4.3	d.	-	i	i	"
NPO	108.91	bl. cb.	6.3-6.7	-	-	i	i	"
NbO2	124.91	bk.	-	-	-	i	i	S.hot KOH
Halides and	Oxyhalides							
NbF2	149.91	dk. blue	-	-	-	-	-	-
NbF5	187.91	col. mn.	3.29	75.5	229	d	-	S. HNO2
NbCla	199.29	bl.	_	-	-	i	i	d. HNO2
NbCls	270.20	vel.dela.red	2.75	194	240.5	d	_	S. HD. CCL. d. al.
NbBr5	492.49	purple-red	-	150	270	d	-	d. al.
NbOF3	165.91	-	-	-	-	d	-	-
NbO ₂ F	143.91	wh.	-	-	-	i	i	S.HF+HNO3
NbOCI3	215.28	wh.rd.	-	subl. 300	-	d	-	s,H ₂ sO ₄ , аl.
NbO ₂ CI	160.3/	-	-	d.	-	-	-	-
NbOBr ₃	348.66	yel.cr.	-	subl.	-	d	-	-
Other Simpl	e Salts							
NbH	93.92	gray pd.	6.0-6.6	d	-	-	-	S.HF
NbN	106.92	bk,	-	-	-	-	-	S.HF, +HNO3
Nb2OS2	298.0	bk.	-	d.	-	i	i	S.H2SO4, HF
NbC	104.91	-	-	3500	-	-	-	S.HF+HNO3
Complex Co	mounds							
Nb(HC2Q4)	538.06	mn	-	-	-	Ч	_	S. HoCoQ4:d.al.
KNhOFs-Ho	S 300.1	-	_	-	-	8	S	d.a.
KaNibEr	266 11	_	-	-	_	-	-	S. HEid.a.
K ₃ NbOF ₆	340.21	-	-	-	-	-	S	d.a.

Table 1. Niobium Compounds

Abbreviations are those used in Lange's Handbook of Chemistry

1

)

1

Í

Aqueous ammonium fluoride solution (Zirflex reagent) has been used satisfactorily to dissolve U-Zr-1.5% Nb alloy (1). However, this reagent does not appear attractive for niobium metal or alloys containing large percentages of niobium. The dissolution rate of pure niobium in ammonium fluoride, $NH_4F-NH_4NO_3$, or $NH_4F-H_2O_2$ was very slow. The solubility of the dissolution product, $(NH_4)_2NbF_7$, was about 0.01 M. Addition of 3 M HNO₃ to the product caused part of the niobium to precipitate as oxide and about 1 mole of niobium per 30 moles of fluoride stayed in solution.



Fig. 1. Dissolution of niobium in refluxing nitric-hydrofluoric acid.

3.2 Organic Solutions (43)

In preliminary studies alcoholic hydrogen chloride or alcohol-mercuric chloride appeared promising as niobium dissolvents because of high dissolution rates and low corrosion rates. The more rapid dissolution in the anhydrous reagent is probably due to the absence of surface films, which always form on niobium in aqueous solutions (33,34). In alcoholic hydrogen chloride, hydrogen ion is reduced and hydrogen gas is evolved; in alcohol-mercuric chloride, mercuric ion is reduced to mercurous ion or mercury as niobium dissolves. Transfer of the uranium to an aqueous solution in preparation for solvent extraction was demonstrated in both cases. However, serious problems make eventual use of either of these reagents improbable. Alcoholic hydrogen chloride reacts rapidly, as the temperature is increased, to produce ethyl chloride and water. Water causes hydrolysis of the soluble dissolution products to undesirable insoluble compounds. The dissolution reaction is exothermic, and it would be difficult to keep the reagent cool while maintaining rapid dissolution. The process using mercuric chloride would require several mercury-recycle operations, all of which have been demonstrated on a laboratory scale but have not been evaluated on engineering scale.



Fig. 2. Dissolution of niobium in refluxing sulfuric acid.

3.3 High-temperature Gas-Solid Reactions

Niobium reacted readily with halide gases at high temperatures, particularly with chlorine, where the reaction rate exceeded 10 mg cm⁻² min⁻¹ at furnace temperatures above 300°C (Fig. 3). Other workers have also reported rapid reaction rates above 300°C with chlorine (28) and have examined the nonvolatile lower valence products which are formed by reaction with hydrogen chloride (30,44-47) and hydrogen fluoride (47). Much volatile pentachloride and pentafluoride are also produced in reactions with hydrogen chloride or hydrogen fluoride. The nonvolatile products probably decrease the reaction rates. Excess chlorine reportedly is needed to convert niobium trichloride to the pentachloride (30). The x-ray pattern of niobium trifluoride was identified in the nonvolatile blue compound that formed during hydrofluorination of niobium. Niobium reportedly reacts readily with fluorine or hydrogen fluoride at 300°C (48). Alloys of niobium with uranium and zirconium have been hydrochlorinated at satisfactory rates (49,50).



Fig. 3. Reaction rates of niobium in halogen gases.

A disadvantage in hydrochlorination is that the more stable and nonvolatile niobium pentoxide, rather than the pentachloride, can form from oxygen-containing impurities introduced into the system. Under practical operating conditions, some oxygen-containing impurities will always be present. However, the pentoxide can be converted rapidly to pentachloride by treatment with carbon tetrachloride vapor at temperatures above 250°C (50,51), or by mixing with carbon and treatment with chlorine gas (24-26).

Niobium pentachloride may be separated from zirconium tetrachloride by absorption of the latter on sodium or potassium chloride beds at elevated temperatures (26,49,52). The decomposition temperatures of the niobium chloride-sodium and potassium chloride complexes are 287 and 562°C, respectively (26). The decomposition pressures of the zirconium chloride-sodium and potassium chloride complexes are 2.8 and 1.97 mm Hg at 432 and 650°C, respectively (26).

The volatile niobium pentachloride can be condensed as a liquid which melts at 209.5°C and boils at 247.4°C at 1 atm pressure.

3.4 Fused Salts

The dissolution rate of niobium in potassium hydroxide solution increased from 0.1 to 5.5 mg cm⁻² min⁻¹ as the potassium hydroxide concentration increased from 10 M (refluxing) to 30 M (325°C) (Fig. 4). Addition of 5 M or 10 M KF only decreased the dissolution rate. Niobium dissolved in fused sodium hydroxide at 400°C at 0.035 mg cm⁻² min⁻¹. The rate in 10 M LiOH was too slow to measure and in 10 M KOH-1 M RbF was 0.04 mg cm⁻² min⁻¹, about half that in 10 M KOH alone.

Processing of niobium-containing fuels in the ORNL Fluoride Volatility Process (53) is being investigated. The dissolution rate at 600°C was measured as 1.8-2.4 mg cm⁻² min⁻¹ (54). Niobium also dissolved in fused ammonium bifluoride at a rate of 1.6 mg cm⁻² min⁻¹ at 220°C (1).



Fig. 4. Dissolution of niobium in potassium hydroxide solutions. All solutions except 30 M KOH were refluxing.

Fused chlorides do not attack niobium as rapidly as does chlorine gas. Uraniumzirconium alloys containing 10% Nb dissolved in refluxing $3ZrCl_4 \cdot 2POCl_3$ (360°C) at 9-12 mg cm⁻² min⁻¹ (55). The niobium product is thought to be NbCl₅·POCl₃, which has a normal boiling point of 263°C (56). In a fused lead chloride process being developed at the Idaho Chemical Processing Plant, the dissolution of many materials, among which is niobium, is being investigated (57).

4.0 REFERENCES

(Unless otherwise noted, page numbers of Russian work pertains to the English translations.)

- T. A. Gens and F. G. Baird, "Modified Zirflex Process for Dissolution of Zirconium- and Niobium-bearing Nuclear Fuels in Aqueous Fluoride Solutions: Laboratory Development, ORNL-2713 (December 1959).
- 2. Columbium/Tantalum Special Report, Chemical Week, May 6, 1961.
- 3. J. A. DeMastry and R. F. Dickerson, "Niobium: Promising High Temperature Reactor Core Material," Nucleonics, 18: 87–90 (September 1960).
- "Columbium Metallurgy," Proc. Am. Inst. Mining, Metallurgical and Petroleum Engrs, June 9–10, 1960, ed. by D. C. Douglas and F. W. Kunz, Interscience Publishers, New York, 1961.
- 5. "More Tantalum and Niobium on Way," Chem. Eng. News, March 10, 1958, p. 24.

- "Technology of Columbium," Proc. Electrochem. and Metallurg. Div. Electrochem. Soc., May 15–16, 1958, ed. by B. W. Gonser and E. M. Sherwood, John Wiley & Sons, New York, 1958.
- 7. G. L. Miller, "Tantalum and Niobium," Academic Press, New York, 1959.
- 8. Conference on Niobium, Tantalum, Molybdenum, and Tungsten, Univ. Sheffield, September 1960, J. Less Common Metals, 2: 69–317 (1960).
- J. R. Werning, K. B. Higbie, J. T. Grace, B. F. Speece, and H. L. Gilbert, "Separation of Tantalum and Niobium by Liquid-Liquid Extraction," Ind. Eng. Chem, 46: 644 (1954).
- C. W. Carlson and R. H. Nielson, "Pure Columbium and Tantalum Oxides by Liquid-Liquid Extraction," J. Metals, p. 472, June 1960.
- 11. C. Placek and D. F. Taylor, "Tantalum," Ind. Eng. Chem, 48: 686 (1956).
- 12. D. F. Taylor, "The Extraction of Tantalum and Columbium," Eng. Prog., 54(4): 47 (1958).
- 13. P. C. Stevenson and H. G. Hicks, "Separation of Tantalum and Niobium by Solvent Extraction," Anal. Chem, 25: 1518 (1953).
- G. H. Faye and W. R. Inman, "The Isolation and Separation of Niobium and Tantalum Pentoxides from Mineral Concentrate by Liquid-Liquid Extraction," Canad. Mining Met. Bull, 50: 609 (October 1957).
- 15. J. A. Pierret and H. A. Wilhelm, "Caustic Fusion of Columbite-Tantalite Concentrates with Subsequent Separations of Niobium and Tantalum," ISC-796 (August 1956).
- 16. W. R. Schoeller, "The Analytical Chemistry of Tantalum and Niobium," Chapman and Hall, Ltd., London, 1937, p. 18.
- 17. G. L. Humphrey, "Heats of Formation of Tantalum, Niobium, and Zirconium Oxides and Tantalum Carbide," J. Am. Chem. Soc, 76: 978 (1954).
- H. Schaefer and F. Kahlenberg, "Die Thermochemie der Niobchlorid," Z. anorg. allgem. Chem, 305: 20 (1960).
- H. Schaefer and F. Kahlenberg, "Die Bildungsenthalpie des Tantal(V)-chlorids," Z. anorg. allgem. Chem, 294: 242 (1958).

- O. E. Myers, "The Thermodynamic Properties of Molten Salts: Part II. Tungsten Hexafluoride, Niobium Pentafluoride, and Vanadium Trifluoride," WADC 56-4, Part II. Astia Document AD 131097 (1957).
- Yu. A. Busleav and N. S. Nikolaeu, "The HF-TaF₅-H₂O System," Russ. J. Inorg. Chem, 4: 210 (1959).
- 22. M. C. Marignac, "Recherches sur les combinaisons du niobium," Ann. chim. phys. 8(IV): 5 (1866).
- 23. F. Cuvelliez, Brit. Patent 507, 124 (June 9, 1939); Brit. Patent 644, 544 (Oct. 11, 1950); U. S. Patent 2, 429, 671 (Oct. 28, 1947).
- 24. W. J. Kroll and F. E. Bacon, U. S. Patent 2,427,360 (Sept. 16, 1947); U. S. Patent 2,443,254 (June 15, 1948).
- 25. I. S. Morozov and S. L. Stefanyuk, "On the Kinetics of Chlorination of Titanium Dioxide and Niobium Pentoxide," NP-Tr-527, translated from Zhur. Neorg. Khim., 3: 2366 (1958).

Ţ

I

- 26. I. S. Morozov, "Chlorination in the Metallurgy of Rare and Nonferrous Metals," J. Appl. Chem. U.S.S.R., 33: 1669 (1960).
- 27. J. B. Ainscough, R. J. W. Holt, and F. W. Trowse, "Niobium and Tantalum Pentachlorides and Their Binary System," J. Chem. Soc.: 1957, p. 1034.
- K. M. Alexander and F. Fairbrother, "The Halides of Columbium and Tantalum. I. The Vapor Pressures of Columbium and Tantalum Pentachloride and Pentabromides," J. Chem. Soc.: 1949, p. S223.
- I. S. Morozov and B. G. Korshunov, "Investigation of the Chlorination of Niobium Pentoxide and Zirconium Dioxide," Chem. of Rare Elements, 2: 102 (1955) (in Russian).
- 30. A. Schaefer, "Niobtrichlorid, eine Verbindung mit grosser Phasenbreite," Angew. Chem, 67: 748 (1955).
- 31. J. Kleinberg, W. J. Argersinger, Jr., E. Griswold, "Inorganic Chemistry," D. C. Heath and Co., Boston, 1960, p. 509.
- N. S. Nikolaev and Yu. A. Busleav, "I. Solubility and Hydrolysis in the HF-NbF₅-H₂O System," Russ. J. Inorg. Chem, 4: 84 (1959).

- J. van Muylder, N. de Zoubov, and M. Pourbaix, "Electrochemical Behavior of Niobium. Potential-pH Equilibrium Diagram for the System Nb-H₂O at 25°C," CEBELCOR (Centre belge étude Corrosion), Rappt. Tech. No. 53: 1 (1957); Chem. Abs., 52: 16105i.
- 34. G. B. Clark and G. V. Akimov, "Irreversible Electrode Potentials of Metals," Compt. rend acad. sci. USSR, 30: 805 (1941) (in English).
- 35. J. Wernet, "Das Verhalten von Titan-, Niob- and Tantalverbindungen," Z. anorg. allgem. Chem., 267: 213 (1952).
- F. Fairbrother and J. B. Taylor, "Water-soluble Complexes of Niobium and Tantalum. Part I. Complexes with α-Hydroxy-acids and (2-Hydroxethyl)-amines, J. Chem. Soc.: 1956, p. 4946.
- 37. "Chemistry of the Co-ordinate Compounds," ed. by H. Taube and A. G. Maddock, Pergamon Press, New York, 1958, p. 296.
- F. Fairbrother, D. Robinson, and J. B. Taylor, "Water-Soluble Complexes of Niobium and Tantalum. II. The Dissolution of Niobic and Tantalic Acids in Amine Solutions," J. Chem. Soc.: 1958, 2074 (1958).
- 39. F. P. Treadwell and W. T. Hall, "Analytical Chemistry," Vol I, John Wiley & Sons, Inc., New York, 1937, p. 587.
- 40. N. Adler and C. F. Hiskey, "Spectra of the Peroxy Compounds of Niobium in Sulfuric Acid," J. Am. Chem. Soc., 79: 1831 (1957).
- 41. P. Kofstad and H. Kjoellesdal, "Oxidation of Niobium in the Temperature Range 500°C to 1200°C," Trans. Met. Soc. of AIME, 221: 285 (1961).
- T. A. Gens and W. E. Clark, "Laboratory Development of the Perflex Process for the Dissolution of Uranium Alloy Fuels in Hydrofluoric Acid-Hydrogen Peroxide," ORNL-CF-59-11-23 (Nov. 10, 1959).
- 43. "Chemical Technology Division Annual Progress Report for Period Ending August 31, 1958," ORNL-2576, p. 29.
- 44. C. H. Brubaker, Jr., and R. C. Yound, "Anhydrous Niobium Tribromide and Trichloride. Preparation and Properties," J. Am. Chem. Soc., 73: 4179 (1951).
- W. J. Spitzyn and N. A. Preobrashenski, "Chlorierung von Niob and seinen Verbindungen," J. chim. gen., 10(72): 785 (1940); Chem. Zbl. 1940 II, 3315.

- 46. P. Sue, "Recherches sur quelques chlorures de niobium," Bull. Soc. Chim., 6: 830 (1939).
- 47. H. J. Emeleus and V. Gutmann, "The Fluorides of Niobium, Tantalum, Tungsten, and Rhenium," J. Chem. Soc., 1950, p. 2115.
- 48. O. Ruff and E. Schiller, "Uber Tantal- und Niobpentafluoride, sowie ueber die Reindarstellung der Tantal- und Niobsaure," Z. anorg. Chem., 72: 329 (1911).
- 49. J. J. Perona, J. B. Adams, J. E. Savolainen, and T. A. Gens, "Status of the Development of the Zircex Process," ORNL-2631 (March 1959, Confidential).
- 50. T. A. Gens and R. L. Jolley, "New Laboratory Developments in the Zircex Process," ORNL-2992 (April 1961).
- O. Ruff and F. Thomas, "Das Verhalten von Niob- und Tantal-5-oxyd gegen Tetrachlorkohlenstoff, sowie ein Verfahren zur analytischen Bestimmung von Niob und Tantal," Z. anorg. allgem. Chem., 156: 213 (1926).

ļ

- 52. "Chemical Technology Division Monthly Progress Report for December 1957," ORNL-2468, pp. 11-12.
- 53. G. I. Cathers, W. H. Carr, R. B. Lindauer, R. P. Milford, and M. E. Whatley, "Recovery of Uranium from Highly Irradiated Reactor Fuel by a Fused Salt-Fluoride Volatility Process," Progress in Nuclear Engineering, Series III, Vol 3, Process Chemistry, Pergamon Press, New York 1961, p. 307.
- 54. G. I. Cathers, Chemical Technology Division, Oak Ridge National Laboratory, private communication, Oct. 16, 1961.
- 55. T. A. Gens, "Processing of Reactor Fuels in Molten 3ZrCl₄·2POCl₃," ORNL-CF-58-1-49 (January 1958).
- 56. L. A. Nisel'-son, "Products from the Reactor of Tantalum and Niobium Pentachloride with Phosphorus Oxychloride," Zhur. Neorg. Khim., 2: 816 (1957).
- 57. E. M. Vander Wall, H. T. Hahn, and D. L. Bauer, "Salt-Phase Chlorination of Reactor Fuels. II. Arco Process Definition and Scoping Studies," IDO-14525 (October 1960).

ORNL-3241 UC-4 - Chemistry TID-4500 (16th ed., Rev.)

INTERNAL DISTRIBUTION

1. Biology Library 2-3. Central Research Library 4. Reactor Division Library 5. ORNL - Y-12 Technical Library Document Reference Section 6-25. Laboratory Records Department 26. Laboratory Records, ORNL R.C. 27. E. D. Arnold 28. R. E. Blanco 29. G. E. Boyd 30. J. C. Bresee 31. K. B. Brown 32. F. R. Bruce 33. G. I. Cathers 34. W. E. Clark 35-36. F. L. Culler 37. D. E. Ferguson 38. L. M. Ferris 39. J. R. Flanary 40. J. H. Frye, Jr. 41-43. T. A. Gens 44. J. H. Gillette 45. H. E. Goeller 46. H. B. Graham 47. A. T. Gresky 48. W. R. Grimes 49. C. E. Guthrie 50. C. W. Hancher 51. C. S. Harrill 52. A. Hollaender

53. A. S. Householder 54. R. G. Jordan (Y-12) 55. W. H. Jordan 56. M. T. Kelley 57. F. G. Kitts 58. J. A. Lane 59. C. E. Larson 60. W. H. Lewis 61. T. A. Lincoln 62. S. C. Lind 63. K. Z. Morgan 64. J. P. Murray (K-25) 65. E. L. Nicholson 66. D. Phillips 67. A. D. Ryon 68. H. E. Seagren 69. M. J. Skinner 70. J. A. Swartout 71. E. H. Taylor 72. J. W. Ullmann 73. W. E. Unger 74. C. D. Watson 75. A. M. Weinberg 76. M. E. Whatley 77. C. E. Winters 78. R. G. Wymer 79. J. W. Youngblood 80. D. L. Katz (consultant) 81. T. H. Pigford (consultant) 82. H. Worthington (consultant)

EXTERNAL DISTRIBUTION

83. E. L. Anderson, AEC, Washington
84. F. R. Dowling, AEC, Washington
85. J. J. McBride, ICPP
86. C. M. Slansky, ICPP
87. J. A. Buckham, ICPP
88. J. W. Morris, Du Pont, Savannah River
89. W. E. Winsche, Du Pont, Savannah River
90. V. R. Thayer, Du Pont, Wilmington
91. L. P. Hatch, Brookhaven National Laboratory
92. B. Manowitz, Brookhaven National Laboratory
93. C. E. Stevenson, Argonne National Laboratory
94. S. Lawroski, Argonne National Laboratory

95. W. H. Reas, Hanford 96. O. F. Hill, Hanford

97. R. E. Tomlinson, Hanford

98. Division of Research and Development, AEC, ORO

99-686. Given distribution as shown in TID-4500 (16th ed., Rev.) under Chemistry category (75 copies - OTS)

I